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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE 

“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be 

attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks 

of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater 

risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated 

investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible 

to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there 

will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no 

representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in 

reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth 

Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The 

Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this 

report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of 

which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMANʼS
STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to 

present our first annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 

2011.

To RENHENG, 2011 is a fruitful year. We showed a record turnover and net profit for the year since our establishment 10 years 

ago in 2001, reaching approximately HK$156 million and HK$25.7 million respectively. On 18 November 2011, the Group 

was successfully listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. These have not only proved our vision and ascertained our effort put 

in past years in building our management and operation team, customer base as well as quality products and systems, but 

also signified our gumption in uplifting our status as the leading role in the tobacco machinery industry.

Our Group continues to engage in the manufacture, sale and provision of maintenance, overhaul and modification services 

in respect of tobacco machinery products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). We have also devoted much 

resources in the design and development of new technology products and systems, and have successfully delivered a 

new casing and flavouring system with movable tanks to a customer. Our team received rave feedback for the system 

performance, and more importantly, considerable enquiries and discussion in connection with the implementation and 

customization of such first of its kind system from other cigarette manufacturers into their production process.

“The successful listing on GEM and our record turnover 

and net profit for 2011 have proved our vision”
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Chairmanʼs Statement

OUTLOOK

We expect the year ahead will be full of challenges. Our Group is still confronted by a number of difficulties, namely the increasing and 

continuous competition from other machinery manufacturers of their advanced products, the possible change of capital budget by 

cigarette manufacturers and tobacco redrying factories affected by the lower spending of cigarette smokers due to tightening of smoking 

control, as well as the dampened investment sentiment influenced by the prolonged European debt crisis within the macro-economic 

environment.

Notwithstanding the strenuous environment, we remain optimistic and are confident in our future performance. A key to it is to keep abreast 

with the evolving requirements of customers. We are committed, being one of the principal objectives, to the continuous development 

of new and innovative products and systems. Together with our customization capabilities and insight of recruitment of additional quality 

technical personnel, we are fully equipped ourselves to meet these challenges. Meanwhile, looking at a CAGR (compound annual growth 

rate) between 2004 to 2009 of approximately 13.5% for the fixed asset investment in relation to equipment purchasing in the tobacco 

products in the urban areas, we believe the general investment level in relation to equipment spending will still be favourable and at an 

increasing momentum.

The ever-changing business environment requires us to be vigilant and flexible, and it would not be achievable without the right people. I 

would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our management and staff for their effort, innovation and continue dedication 

to RENHENG.

Wei Sheng Peng

Chairman

14 March 2012
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng

Mr. Wei, aged 44, is an executive Director, chairman of our Board and one of the founders of Bao Ying Ren Heng Industrial 

Co. Ltd (“Baoying Renheng”). Mr. Wei is primarily responsible for the overall business planning and strategic development 

of our Group. He has more than 15 years of experience in the electrical and mechanical equipment industry. As a founding 

member of Baoying Renheng, Mr. Wei has gained knowledge and experience in the tobacco machinery industry during 

the last 10 years. Mr. Wei was a director and the legal representative of Baoying Renheng between November 2001 and 

March 2005, and he has served as the director of the holding companies of Baoying Renheng including Yanlord (Holdings) 

Industrial Limited (”Yanlord Industrial”) since August 1992 and Yanlord Industry Investment Limited (“Yanlord Industry 

Investment”) since May 2005 to monitor the operation of Baoying Renheng. Mr. Wei graduated from Lufeng County Donghai 

Secondary School in July 1987. In the last three years, he did not hold any directorship in any publicly listed company. Mr. 

Wei was appointed as a Director on 2 February 2011 and redesignated as an executive Director with effect from 20 October 

2011. He is the spouse of Ms. Liu.

Ms. Liu Li

Ms. Liu, aged 41, is an executive Director, is responsible for overseeing the human resources and administration 

functions of our Group. In February 2007, she was appointed as a director of Yanlord Industry Investment and has 

been responsible for overseeing the operation of Baoying Renheng thereafter since the completion of the transfer of 

equity interest in Baoying Renheng from Yanlord Industrial to Yanlord Industry Investment in 2008. She obtained a 

bachelor’s degree in sport management from Beijing Sport University in July 1992. Ms. Liu was appointed as a Director on 

2 February 2011 and was redesignated as an executive Director with effect from 20 October 2011. She is the spouse of Mr. 

Wei.

Mr. Sun Zhaohui

Mr. Sun, aged 44, is an executive Director, the chief executive officer of our Company and the legal representative of Baoying 

Renheng. He is primarily responsible for the overall management and corporate development, acquisition and strategy 

implementation of Baoying Renheng. Mr. Sun has accumulated no less than 11 years of experience in engineering field. 

He joined IPACS Asia Pte Ltd. as a senior engineer in October 1997, and subsequently took up the position of vice general 

manager of IPACS Computer System Engineering (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. in December 1999. Mr. Sun then worked as the 

general manager of Quantum Automation (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. for over 8 years from September 2001 to March 2010. Mr. 

Sun graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering mechanics from Harbin Institute of Technology in July 1990. He was 

appointed as an executive Director on 20 October 2011.



RENHENG ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 2011 6

Biographical Details in respect of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Mr. Tam, aged 48, is an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the nomination committee, and a member of the 

remuneration committee and the audit committee of the Company. He has over 21 years of experience in accounting, auditing and finance. 

He is currently president of Essentack Limited, a corporate strategy and management advisory company. He is an independent non-

executive director and the audit committee chairman of Kith Holdings Limited (stock code: 1201), a company whose shares are listed on the 

Stock Exchange, and also an independent non-executive director of KEE Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2011), a company whose 

shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tam graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a fellow of The Association 

of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director with effect from 20 October 2011.

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit

Mr. Wong, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the remuneration 

committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in venture capital, corporate finance, 

business development, financial and general management. Currently he is the president and group chief financial officer of KVB Kunlun 

Holdings Limited (“KVB”) which he joined in November 2011. KVB is an international financial services corporation providing forex, equities, 

commodities trading and asset management services with operations in Auckland, Sydney, Melbourne, Toronto, Hong Kong, Beijing and 

Tokyo. Besides, he has served as the executive director of China Private Equity Investment Holdings Limited (“CPE”) since April 2008. CPE 

focuses on private equity investment and is a listed company on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange Plc. He 

also served as the chief financial officer of CPE from April 2008 to October 2011. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration from the University of Hong Kong, a Master 

of Science Degree in Investment Management from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a Master of Science Degree 

in Electronic Engineering from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is also a charter-holder of Chartered Financial Analyst and a member 

of Hong Kong Securities Institute. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 20 October 2011.

Mr. Kong Hing Ki

Mr. Kong, aged 41, is an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member of the 

audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He has over 10 years’ experience in accounting, auditing and finance, 

gained from accountancy and commercial firms. Currently, he is a financial controller of a company whose ultimate holding company is 

listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and is an independent non-executive director and the audit 

committee chairman of Hing Lee (HK) Holdings Limited (stock code: 396), a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, and 

also an independent non-executive director of KEE Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2011), a company whose shares are listed on 

the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kong obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from The Australian National University and a Master of Business 

Administration Degree from Deakin University, which is a joint program of Deakin University and CPA Australia conducted in Hong Kong. 

He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of CPA Australia. He was appointed as an 

independent non-executive Director with effect from 20 October 2011.
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Biographical Details in respect of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Jiagui

Mr. Xu, aged 45, is the director and general manager of Baoying Renheng. He is primarily responsible for the strategic planning, business 

development as well as overseeing the daily operations of Baoying Renheng. Mr. Xu has over 9 years of experience in research and 

development, production and general management relating to the tobacco machinery manufacturing industry. He joined Baoying 

Renheng in January 2002. Mr. Xu was awarded by Baoying County top ten technological worker and advanced technological worker in 

March 2000 and April 2001 respectively. He graduated with a college diploma in mechanical design and manufacturing process from 

Jiangsu Radio and TV University in July 1991 and obtained a certificate of completion for Class for Advanced Studies of Postgraduate 

Curricula in management science and engineering from Southeast University in December 2004.

Mr. Liu Yang

Mr. Liu, aged 39, is a director and vice general manager of Baoying Renheng. He is principally responsible for overseeing the sales and 

marketing activities of Baoying Renheng. Mr. Liu has over 15 years of experience in sales and marketing. He was the vice general manager 

for sales of Zhuhai Gang Zhuhai Ming An Enterprise Co. Ltd. between July 1994 to June 2002, and subsequently acquired knowledge and 

experience in the tobacco machinery industry after joining Baoying Renheng in June 2004. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree in 

marketing from Changchun University of Science and Technology in July 1993. Mr. Liu is the brother of Ms. Liu.

Mr. An Zhanqi

Mr. An, aged 53, is the chief engineer of Baoying Renheng and is the head of the technical department, the production department as well 

as the procurement department of our Group. He has no less than 10 years of experience in the engineering field. Mr. An was the general 

manager of Yanlord Industrial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. from April 1995 to June 1996 and was appointed as the general manager of Zhuhai 

Special Economic Zone Ren Heng Electromechanical Company Limited from July 1996 to December 1997. He was the chief engineer of a 

company engaged in the provision of environmental technology consultancy services between 2001 and 2005 prior to joining our Group in 

January 2006. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from Tsinghua University in November 1982.

Mr. Ho Pui Lam Joseph

Mr. Ho, aged 31, is the company secretary of our Company and a finance manager of our Group. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and has over 8 years of experience in the audit and accounting profession. Prior to joining our Group on 

1 December 2010, Mr. Ho worked as an audit manager in an international accounting firm. He obtained a bachelor’s degree of business 

administration in accounting and finance from the University of Hong Kong in December 2002.
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MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS
RENHENG is principally engaged in the manufacture, sale and provision of maintenance, overhaul and modification services 

in respect of tobacco machinery products in the PRC. We generate our turnover primarily from projects related to three 

types of catalogued special-purpose tobacco machinery products, namely the casing and flavouring systems, pneumatic 

feeding systems (the “PF systems”) and pre-pressing packing machines (the “PP systems”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group achieved turnover of approximately HK$156,044,000, representing an 

increase of approximately 70.1% from HK$91,713,000 recorded last year. Gross profit margin dropped from approximately 

44.3% to approximately 36.4%, translating into a gross profit of approximately HK$56,771,000 (2010: approximately 

HK$40,614,000). It is within the management expectation as a result of the completion of one considerable project during the 

year in delivering a new casing and flavouring system, which the Group has accepted a lower margin relative to the expected 

costs in respect of the components and devices when deciding the aggregate contract amount charged to the customer.

Despite the recognition of listing expenses of approximately HK$7,118,000 for the year, we showed a net profit attributable 

to shareholders of approximately HK$25,679,000, an increment of approximately 28.8% as compared to approximately 

HK$19,933,000 in 2010. Operating expenditures, comprising the selling and distribution costs and administrative expenses, 

amounted to HK$22,289,000 (2010: approximately HK$15,879,000). The increment was principally due to the increase in 

entertainment resulting from our visits to various potential customers and the increase in staff costs.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the sale of our catalogued special-purpose tobacco machinery products remained the 

principal driver of our revenue, comprising approximately 90.3% of the Group’s turnover (2010: approximately 95.4%). At the 

same time, we are pleased to see the contribution from other businesses, including the sales of non-catalogued ancillary 

tobacco machinery and hot stamped foil products, was also increasing in its absolute value.

Bringing forward from 2010, the project in Kunming in providing a casing and flavouring system with movable tanks to a 

customer was completed during the year. The system is a brand new design as compared to the traditional system using 

pipe connection and is custom-made to our customer. At the same time, we are in the process of applying certain joint 

patents such as the automatic flavour spraying system, the automatic casing system and related technology and the 

integrated downdraft feeding machinery. These have proved the capability of our technical people and reinforced our 

competitive parity against other tobacco machinery manufacturers.

With our solid experience and proven track record in producing PF systems and PP systems, our Group continued to deliver 

these products to our customers during the year, for instance, certain PF systems to cigarette manufacturers in Shanghai, 

Yunan and Jiangxi, and PP systems to tobacco redrying factories in Yunan and Henan.

Leveraging on the successful launch of our new systems, as well as the various design and utility patents, our team members 

took swift move to approach our respective customers to conduct product introduction and technical feasibility study with a 

view to close the contract. By the end of 2011, our book recorded secured orders on hand of approximately RMB120 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

To enhance our competitive edge, we will continue to endeavor our resources into product development and innovation so as to expand 

our existing product range and to create new and enhanced series of catalogued special-purpose tobacco machinery products to meet the 

evolving requirements of our customers, and more importantly, to provide new revenue stream for the Group. Our technical team is actively 

engaged in the development of a new set of PP systems and the design of other products and systems in accordance with our plan through 

utilization of internal resources and proceeds obtained from the placing of new shares in November 2011 (the “Placing”).

Even though we experienced growth in our revenue and profits in past year, our management is cautious in operating cost control. We will 

adopt measures to strengthen and achieve the highest level of costs management in order to maximize the return of each dollar spent, and 

more importantly with an aim to bring along better return to our shareholders.

Looking forward, we are confident with our business model and strategy, and strive to achieve improved profitability and bring RENHENG 

to attain the leadership status in the industry.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group did not have any borrowings, mortgages or charges as at 31 December 2011 (31.12.2010: Nil). As at 31 December 2011, we had 

bank balances and cash of approximately HK$103,353,000 (31.12.2010: approximately HK$54,383,000). As at 31 December 2011, we had 

net current assets of approximately HK$142,414,000 (31.12.2010: approximately HK$59,183,000). Current ratio as at 31 December 2011 was 

approximately 3.3 (31.12.2010: approximately 2.0). The improvement was principally due to the fund raised from the Placing.

Our operations are financed principally by revenues generated from business operations, available bank balances and the net proceeds from 

the Placing.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group purchased property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately HK$1,423,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011 

(2010: approximately HK$1,103,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 (31.12.2010: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

Our gearing ratio, defined as the ratio between total bank borrowing and shareholders’ equity, is zero since the Group did not have any bank 

borrowings.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATE

The appreciation of Renminbi is moderate and we consider that potential foreign exchange exposure is limited.
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2011 (31.12.2010: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2011, restricted bank deposits of approximately HK$265,000 (31.12.2010: approximately HK$237,000) were pledged to a 

bank to secure certain construction contracts, which will be released upon the completion of construction.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a total of 141 employees (31.12.2010: 143). Total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) were 

approximately HK$8,840,000 for the year ended 31 December 2011 as compared to approximately HK$8,026,000 for the year ended 31 

December 2010.

Remuneration in the form of salaries and bonus is determined by reference to our employees’ respective experience, responsibilities, 

qualifications and competence displayed and our operation results. Our employees also receive reimbursements for expenses which are 

necessarily and reasonably incurred for providing services to our Group or executing their functions in relation to our operations. Our 

Directors and employees may also receive options granted under the share option scheme after listing.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

There were no significant investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2011 (31.12.2010: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group had no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries for two years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating activities of the Group are attributable to a single operating segment focusing on manufacturing and sale of tobacco 

machinery products. The chief executive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker of the Group, regularly reviews revenue analysis 

by projects related to three types of catalogued special-purpose tobacco machinery products mentioned above.

Segment information about the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial 

statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

COMPARISON BETWEEN FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS AND ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the section headed “Future plans and prospects” as set out in the Company’s prospectus dated 28 October 2011 

(the “Prospectus”) with our actual business progress for the period from 24 October 2011, being the latest practicable date as defined in the 

Prospectus, to 31 December 2011 (the “Relevant Period”) is set out below:

Future plans and prospects

Actual business progress during the 

Relevant Period

Continuous product development 

and innovation 

Design and develop new set of PP system Commenced development of a new set of PP 

system

Design and develop new set of spraying 

device

Commenced the technical feasibility study of 

new type of spraying device

Recruit technical personnel Recruited four technical personnel

Enhancing corporate profile and 

increasing market penetration 

Post advertisement in tobacco magazines Posted advertisement in local publications

Enhancing production processing 

capabilities 

Purchase machinery and equipment Purchased one Computerized Numerical Control 

(“CNC”) press brake and one CNC shearing 

machine

Strengthening management 

information system

Evaluate, acquire and implement 

management information system

Conducted evaluation with management 

information system service provider with 

regard to system requirement and functions

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Placing were approximately HK$45.7 million, which is approximately HK$1.6 million lower than that was 

anticipated in the Prospectus due to the underestimated listing expenses and related disbursements. During the Relevant Period, the net 

proceeds from the Placing had been applied as follows:

 Planned use 

 of proceeds as stated  Actual use 

 in the Prospectus of proceeds 

 during the during the 

 Relevant Period Relevant Period

 (HK$’000) (HK$’000)

Continuous product development and innovation (Note 1) 1,364 1,083

Enhancing corporate profile and increasing market penetration (Note 2) 18 2

Enhancing production processing capabilities (Note 3) 480 626

Strengthening management information system (Note 4) 480 –

Total  2,342 1,711
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

Notes:

1. Approximately HK$818,000 and HK$226,000 were used for the design and development of a new set of PP system employing two compressors and a new 

casing and flavouring system equipping the operating features of movable tanks and automated storage, retrieval and feeding devices respectively. The 

feasibility study of new type of spraying device was also commenced during the Relevant Period. 

 Remaining balance amounting to approximately HK$39,000 was used to employ four technical personnel and recruitment is still continuous.

2. The Group is formulating a more detail marketing and promotion plan including the posting of advertisement in tabacco magazines.

3. CNC press brake was purchased during the Relevant Period as planned, while the purchase of CNC lathes is deferred due to our production plan. On the other 

hand, CNC shearing machine was purchased during the Relevant Period, which is earlier than that originally planned in first half of 2012.

4. Due to the more time needed to fix the system requirement and function of management information system with the service provider, the plan for upgrading 

management information system is deferred and expected to be completed by the first half of 2012.

The remaining net proceeds as at 31 December 2011 was placed on short-term interest bearing deposits with a licensed bank in Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 24 to 26 April 2012, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the 

shares of the Company will be registered. In order to entitle for the attendance of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, 

all share certificates with completed transfer forms either overleaf or separately, must be lodged with the Hong Kong branch share registrar 

of the Company, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 

23 April 2012.
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DIRECTORSʼ
REPORT
The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2011.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange with effect from 18 November 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services. The activities of its 

principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment information about the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 is set out in note 8 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and propose that the profit for the year be retained.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results of the Group for each of the three years ended 31 December 2011 is set out on page 66 of this 

report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2011 and the resulting fair value change of approximately 

HK$181,000 has been credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties of the Group are set out in note 17 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company issued 50,000,000 new shares by way of placing in November 2011 at a price of HK$1.20 per share. The 

gross proceeds received by the Company amounted to HK$60,000,000. These proceeds were applied during the year in 

accordance with the principles set out in the Prospectus and the actual development of the tobacco industry in the PRC. 

Details of application of net proceeds are set out in the section of “Management discussion and analysis” to this annual report.
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Directorsʼ Report

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out on page 28 of this annual report and in 

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

At the end of the reporting date, the Company’s reserve available for distribution amounted to approximately HK$44,005,000. Under the 

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying dividends to shareholders 

subject to the provisions of the Company’s memorandum or articles of association and provided that immediately following the distribution 

of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

BANK BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any bank borrowings during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2011, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 86.2% 

(2010: approximately 81.8%) of the total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 40.6% (2010: approximately 

66.1%) of total sales. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 47.3% (2010: approximately 

42.4%) of the total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 29.8% (2010: approximately 13.3%) of 

total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 

5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng (appointed on 2 February 2011)

Ms. Liu Li (appointed on 2 February 2011)

Mr. Sun Zhaohui (appointed on 20 October 2011)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy (appointed on 20 October 2011)

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit (appointed on 20 October 2011)

Mr. Kong Hing Ki (appointed on 20 October 2011)
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In accordance with Article 16 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Wei Sheng Peng, Ms. Liu Li, Mr. Sun Zhaohui, Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, 

Sammy, Mr. Wong Yiu Kit and Mr. Kong Hing Ki will retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 

first annual general meeting after appointment.

Biographical details in respect of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out in pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the Company for a period of three years commencing 20 October 2011 

and will continue thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other. They are 

subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of 

association.

Other than those disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 

which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTEREST IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests of Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of 

the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which 

were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short 

positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept under 

Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by 

Directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name

Capacity/Nature of 

Interest

Number of ordinary 

shares

Number of 

underlying shares  

subject to the Pre-

IPO Share Option 

Scheme

Approximate 

percentage of the

issued share capital

of the Company*

Directors

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng (1) Interest of a controlled 

corporation and family 

interest

150,000,000 – 75%

Ms. Liu Li (2) Interest of a controlled 

corporation and family 

interest

150,000,000 – 75%

Mr. Sun Zhaohui Personal interest – 200,000 0.10%

* The percentage represents the number of shares/underlying shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued share as at 31 December 2011.
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Notes:

1. LinkBest Capital Group Limited (“LinkBest”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng, is interested in 90,000,000 shares of the Company. Mr. Wei Sheng 

Peng is also the spouse of Ms. Liu Li, so he is deemed to be interested in 60,000,000 Shares held by Open Venture Global Limited (“Open Venture”), being a 

corporation wholly owned by Ms. Liu Li.

2. Open Venture, which is wholly owned by Ms. Liu Li, is interested in 60,000,000 shares of the Company. Ms. Liu Li is also the spouse of Mr. Wei Sheng Peng, so 

she is deemed to be interested in 90,000,000 Shares held by LinkBest, being a corporation wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company nor their associates had any interests or short 

positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as at 31 December 2011.

PREIPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) was approved by a written resolution passed by the 

shareholders of the Company on 20 October 2011. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Scheme is to grant options to the participants as incentive or 

rewards for their contributions to the Group.

Options to subscribe for an aggregate of 1,300,000 shares at an exercise price of HK$0.96 were granted to 10 participants including one 

executive Directors, four members of the senior management of the Group and five employees of the Group, each at a consideration of 

HK$10.00 under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme on 20 October 2011.

As at 31 December 2011, details of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were as follows:

Name of grantee

Date of grant

(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercisable

period

(dd/mm/yyyy)

Exercise 

price per 

share

(HK$)

Granted 

during the 

period

Exercise 

during the 

period

Lapsed

during the 

period

Outstanding

as at 31 

December

2011

Approximate 

percentage

of the issued

share capital

of the Company

Director

Sun Zhaohui 20/10/2011 01/01/2013 – 

19/10/2021 

0.96 200,000 – – 200,000 0.10%

Senior management and 

employees of the Group

20/10/2011 01/01/2013 – 

19/10/2021 

0.96 1,100,000 – – 1,100,000 0.55%

     

1,300,000 – – 1,300,000 0.65%
     

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a written resolution passed by the shareholders 

of the Company on 20 October 2011 for the primary purpose of providing the people and the parties working for the interests of the Group 

with an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interest with the interests of the Group and thereby 

providing them with an incentive to work better for the interests of the Group.
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According to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the consideration for the grant of the options should be HK$10.00. The options may be 

exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the exercise period, which shall in any event not be 

more than ten years from the date of grant.

Up to 31 December 2011, no options were granted to Directors, eligible employees and other outside third parties under the Share Option 

Scheme.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any 

arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 

other body corporate.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material 

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INDEPENDENT NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant 

to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Directors are not aware of any connected transactions of the Group that shall be disclosed in this report under the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTEREST IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2011, according to the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO other than 

the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors and chief executive of the Company, the following parties had interests in shares of the 

Company, as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, as follows:
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Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Name of shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest

Number of 

issued ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 

the issued 

share capital 

of the Company

LinkBest (1) Beneficial owner 90,000,000 45%

Open Venture (2) Beneficial owner 60,000,000 30%

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng (3) Interest of a controlled corporation and family interest 150,000,000 75%

Ms. Liu Li (4) Interest of a controlled corporation and family interest 150,000,000 75%

Notes:

1. LinkBest is wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng.

2. Open Venture is wholly owned by Ms. Liu Li.

3. Mr. Wei Sheng Peng is the sole shareholder of LinkBest which is interested in 90,000,000 shares of the Company and as the spouse of Ms. Liu Li, he is deemed 

to be interested in 60,000,000 Shares held by Open Venture, being a corporation wholly owned by Ms. Liu Li.

4. Ms. Liu Li is the sole shareholder of Open Venture which is interested in 60,000,000 shares of the Company and as the spouse of Mr. Wei Sheng Peng, she is 

deemed to be interested in 90,000,000 Shares held by LinkBest, being a corporation wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued shares of the 

Company as at 31 December 2011.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors 

and senior management. Having regard of the Group’s operating results, individual performance and competence, our remuneration is 

comparable according to market practices.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in 

note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

PREEMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would 

oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors nor their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which causes or 

may cause significant competition with the business of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, during the year ended 31 December 2011, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has 

purchased, sold or redeemed any shares of the Company.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by Shenyin Wanguo Capital (H.K.) Limited (“Shenyin Wanguo”), the compliance adviser of the Company, neither Shenyin Wanguo 

nor its directors or employees or associates had any interests in the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including 

options or rights to subscribe for such securities) as at 31 December 2011.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 27 October 2011 entered into between Shenyin Wanguo and the Company, Shenyin Wanguo received 

and will receive fees for acting as the compliance adviser of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report adopted by the Company is set out in pages 20 to 23 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s 

total issued share capital was held by the public throughout the period from the date of listing to 31 December 2011 and as at the date of 

this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant events that have taken place subsequent to 31 December 2011 and up to the date of approval 

of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wei Sheng Peng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2012
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The Board considers that maintaining high standard of corporate governance and business ethics will serve that the long 

interest of the Company and of its shareholders. The principles adopted by the Board emphasise a quality board, sound 

internal control, accountability to shareholders and thus an ethical corporate culture established.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules 

which sets out corporate governance principles and the Code Provisions, the Company has applied all the Code Provisions 

and certain recommended best practices as set out in the Code during the year ended 31 December 2011.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has applied the principles of the required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 

Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company has been confirmed by all Directors that they have 

complied with or they were not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings as set out in the GEM 

Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2011.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Code A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and should not be 

performed by the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the chairman of the Board is Mr. Wei Sheng Peng who is responsibility for the 

overall business planning and strategic development of the Group and the chief executive officer is Mr. Sun Zhaohui who is 

responsible for the overall management and corporate development, acquisition and strategy implementation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises six Directors, including three executive Directors and three 

independent non-executive Directors and details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Li

Mr. Sun Zhaohui (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit

Mr. Kong Hing Ki

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.
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The Directors, with relevant and sufficient experience and qualifications, have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the 

Group and have exercised due care and fiduciary duties to the significant issues of overall business planning, management and strategic 

development of the Group. Pursuant to Rule 5.05 to the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-executive 

Directors, representing half of the Board and all of them have appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related experiences on 

financial management which is in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng is the spouse of Ms. Liu Li. Other than that, neither Directors have relation to each other and business relation with the 

Group, nor the chairman and the chief executive officer have relation to each other.

The Board conducts regular scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances require. During 

the year ended 31 December 2011 and up to the date of this annual report, there were two board meetings held. The Directors can attend 

meetings in person or via telephone conference as permitted under the articles of association of the Company.

Details of individual attendance of all Directors at the board meetings are as follows:

 Attendance

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng 2/2

Ms. Liu Li 2/2

Mr. Sun Zhaohui 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy 2/2

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit 2/2

Mr. Kong Hing Ki 2/2

Information of material issues, due notice of meeting and minutes of each directors’ meeting have been sent to each of the directors for their 

information, comment and review on a timely manner. During the meeting, the Board discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the 

Group; reviewed and monitored the business and financial performances; and discussed and approved the matters related the placing of 

shares of our Company.

The management is responsible for the daily operations of the Group. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by the Board, the 

management must report back to and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on 

behalf of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND REELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered a service agreement for a term of 3 years, and each of the independent non-executive Directors 

has been appointed for a term of three years.

Pursuant to Article 16 of the Company’s articles of association, all Directors are subject to retirement and, being eligible, offer themselves 

for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In addition, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as 

an addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-

election at that meeting. Accordingly, all the Directors will hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, 

offer themselves for re-election.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the Company’s conduct, business 

activities and development. Given the essential unitary nature of the Board, independent non-executive Director has the same duties of 

care and skill and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. Independent non-executive Director brings a wide range of business and financial 

expertise, experience and independent judgement to the Board. Functions of independent non-executive Director include but should not 

be limited to the following:

i. participating in Board meetings to bring independent judgement;

ii. taking the lead where potential conflict of interests may arise;

iii. serving on the audit, nomination and remuneration Committees if invited; and

iv. scrutinizing the Group’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of 

performance.

PREPARATION OF CONSOLI DATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2011, which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group on a going concern basis.

INDEPENDENT NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board has appointed three independent non-executive Directors. Each of the 

independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a period of three years, commencing on 20 October 2011. None of them has served 

the Group for more than nine years.

All independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules by providing an 

annual confirmation of their independence. The Board has assessed their independence and considers that all independent non-executive 

Directors are independent as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the audit service rendered by the auditor of the Group was mutually agreed in view of the scope of services in the total 

amount of HK$650,000. There is no significant non-audit service provided by the auditor of the Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wong Yiu Kit. The rest of the members are 

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Mr. Kong Hing Ki. At the discretion of the audit committee, executive Directors and/or senior management 

personnel, overseeing the Group’s finance and internal control functions, may be invited to attend meeting. The primary role and function of 

the audit committee are to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems; to review and monitor 

the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standard; 

to review the Company’s financial statements, annual reports, interim reports and quarterly reports, and to provide advice and comment 

thereon to the Board.

Up to the date of this annual report, the audit committee held one meeting to review the annual results for the year ended 31 December 

2011 as well as discussed and reviewed the Group’s internal control and audit works with the auditor of the Company. All members of the 

audit committee have attended the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy. The rest 

of the members are Mr. Wong Yiu Kit and Mr. Kong Hing Ki. The primary role and function of the nomination committee are to review and 

monitor the structure, size and composition of the Board at least once a year and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the 

Board to carry out the Company’s corporate strategies; to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to make 

recommendations to the Board succession planning. Up to the date of this annual report, the nomination committee held one meeting to 

perform the aforesaid functions. All members of the nomination committee have attended the meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Kong Hing Ki. The rest of the 

members are Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy and Mr. Wong Yiu Kit. The primary role and function of the remuneration committee are to review 

and make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration; 

and to review and make recommendations to the Board the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management. Up to the 

date of this annual report, the remuneration committee held one meeting and has considered and reviewed the service contracts of the 

executive Directors and senior management of the Group. All members of the remuneration committee have attended the meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment of reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective internal control system 

to safeguard the Group’s assets against unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect the interest of shareholders of the Company.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control during the year ended 31 December 2011. The Board 

is of the opinion that the internal control is valid and adequate.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company establishes different communication channels with shareholders to update the latest business development and financial 

performance including the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports, the publish and posting of notices, announcements and 

circulars on the GEM website and the Company’s website in order to maintain a high level of transparency.



Independent Auditorʼs Report

RENHENG ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 2011 24

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RENHENG ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RENHENG Enterprise Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 26 to 65, which comprise the consolidated statement 

of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our 

opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not 

assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 

December 2011, and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

14 March 2012
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 Notes 2011 2010

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 8 156,044 91,713

Cost of sales  (99,273) (51,099)

Gross profit  56,771 40,614

Other income 9 5,578 4,279

Other gains and losses 10 8 713

Selling and distribution costs  (11,860) (8,817)

Administrative expenses  (10,429) (7,062)

Listing expenses  (7,118) (1,595)

Research and development costs  (4,372) (394)

Profit before taxation 11 28,578 27,738

Taxation 13 (2,899) (7,805)

Profit for the year  25,679 19,933

Other comprehensive income:

 Exchange differences arising on translation  5,072 2,775

Total comprehensive income for the year  30,751 22,708

Earnings per share 14

 – Basic  16.4 HK cents 13.3 HK cents

 – Diluted  16.4 HK cents N/A
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 Notes 2011 2010

  HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

 Property, plant and equipment 15 15,404 14,664

 Land use rights 16 3,072 3,002

 Investment properties 17 19,366 18,305

  37,842 35,971

Current assets

 Inventories 18 18,238 17,928

 Trade and other receivables 19 80,230 42,503

 Land use rights 16 74 71

 Amounts due from customers for contract work 20 2,334 1,614

 Amounts due from related companies 21 437 417

 Restricted bank deposits 22 265 237

 Bank balances and cash 22 103,353 54,383

  204,931 117,153

Current liabilities

 Trade and other payables 23 50,768 41,450

 Amounts due to customers for contract work 20 7,406 8,061

 Amount due to a related company 24 – 2,500

 Tax payable  4,343 5,959

  62,517 57,970

Net current assets  142,414 59,183

Total assets less current liabilities  180,256 95,154

Non-current liabilities

 Deferred tax liabilities 25 360 1,073

  179,896 94,081

Capital and reserves

 Share capital 26 2,000 390

 Reserves  177,896 93,691

Total equity  179,896 94,081

The consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 65 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 

14 March 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wei Sheng Peng Liu Li

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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    Discretionary Statutory  Property Share

 Share Share Merger surplus surplus Capital revaluation option Translation Accumulated

 capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

   (Note a) (Note b) (Note b)

At 1 January 2010 390 – 48,701 3,338 4,877 999 2,775 – 1,346 8,947 71,373

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 19,933 19,933

Exchange differences

 arising on translation – – – – – – – – 2,775 – 2,775

Total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – – – – – – 2,775 19,933 22,708

At 31 December 2010 390 – 48,701 3,338 4,877 999 2,775 – 4,121 28,880 94,081

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – 25,679 25,679

Exchange differences

 arising on translation – – – – – – – – 5,072 – 5,072

Total comprehensive

 income for the year – – – – – – – – 5,072 25,679 30,751

Issue of shares arising from

 the Group Reorganisation (390) – 390 – – – – – – – –

Capitalisation issue 1,500 (1,500) – – – – – – – – –

Placing of shares 500 59,500 – – – – – – – – 60,000

Expenses incurred in connection

 with the placing of shares – (5,060) – – – – – – – – (5,060)

Recognition of equity-settled

 share-based payments – – – – – – – 124 – – 124

Transfer – – – – 1,176 – – – – (1,176) –

At 31 December 2011 2,000 52,940 49,091 3,338 6,053 999 2,775 124 9,193 53,383 179,896

Notes:

(a) The merger reserve represented the aggregate amount of paid-in capital of Bao Ying Ren Heng Industrial Co. Limited (“Baoying Renheng”) and share 

capital of RENHENG Global Limited (“RENHENG Global”), subsidiaries of the Group, acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation (as defined in Note 2).

(b) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Baoying Renheng is required to maintain two reserves, 

being a statutory surplus reserve and a discretionary surplus reserve which are non-distributable. Appropriations to such reserves are made out of profit 

after taxation of Baoying Renheng based on the relevant accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to PRC enterprises while the amount 

and allocation basis are decided by its board of directors annually. Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, appropriation to the statutory 

surplus reserve is required until the balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve and the discretionary surplus reserve can 

be used to make up its prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue.
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 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

 Profit before taxation 28,578 27,738

 Adjustments for:

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,383 1,086

  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 73

  Allowance for inventories – 341

  Allowance for doubtful debts 171 –

  Operating lease rentals in respect of land use rights 72 69

  Interest income (338) (210)

  Gain on fair value changes of investment properties (181) (786)

  Imputed interest income on retention money receivables – (44)

  Share option expenses 124 –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 29,811 28,267

Decrease in inventories 386 4,523

Increase in trade and other receivables (36,781) (19,550)

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from customers for contract work (657) 2,426

(Increase) decrease in amounts due from related companies (4) 4,504

Increase in trade and other payables 7,710 22,773

(Decrease) increase in amounts due to customers for contract work (968) 8,061

Cash (used in) generated from operations (503) 51,004

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (5,519) (5,550)

Net cash (used in) from operating activities (6,022) 45,454

Investing activities

 Interest received 338 210

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,423) (1,103)

 Addition in restricted bank deposits (19) (237)

 Repayment from related companies – 3,185

 Repayment from ultimate holding company – 388

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 23

 Advance to related companies – (809)

Net cash (used in) from investing activities (1,104) 1,657
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 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing activities

 Proceeds from placing of shares 60,000 –

 Expenses incurred in connection with placing of shares (4,528) (532)

 Repayment to related companies (2,500) (539)

 Advance from related companies – 2,500

Net cash from financing activities 52,972 1,429

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 45,846 48,540

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 54,383 5,629

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 3,124 214

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,

 represented by bank balances and cash 103,353 54,383
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1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 2 February 2011 and registered as an exempted company with 

limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market 

of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”) since 18 November 2011.

The Company acts as an investment holding company while its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture 

and sale of tobacco machinery products. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business in Hong 

Kong of the Company are PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Room 1303, 13/F., 

Keen Hung Commercial Building, 80 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, respectively.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi as it is the currency in which the majority of the Group’s transactions 

are denominated. The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the 

management considers this presentation to be more useful for its current and potential investors.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION

In preparation for the listing of the shares of the Company on the GEM, the Company underwent a group reorganisation 

(the “Group Reorganisation”) which includes the following steps:

(a) Prior to 28 October 2009, the business of the Group carried out by Baoying Renheng was under control by Mr. Wei 

Sheng Peng jointly with his spouse Ms. Liu Li (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”). On 15 October 2009, 

RENHENG Global was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and owned by Yanlord Industry Investment Limited 

(“Yanlord Industry”), a company beneficially owned by the Controlling Shareholders.

(b) On 28 October 2009, RENHENG Tech Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of RENHENG Global, was incorporated and 

acquired the entire beneficial interests in Baoying Renheng from Yanlord Industry at nil consideration.

(c) On 15 December 2010, LinkBest Capital Group Limited (“LinkBest”) and Open Venture Global Limited (“Open 

Venture”), companies wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng and Ms. Liu Li respectively, acquired the entire 

beneficial interests in RENHENG Global from Yanlord Industry.

(d) On 2 February 2011, the Company was incorporated by LinkBest and Open Venture, and registered as an exempted 

company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to a share swap agreement dated 2 February 2011, 

the Company acquired the entire equity interests in RENHENG Global by issuing and allotting a total of 100 shares 

of HK$0.01 each to LinkBest and Open Venture. Thereafter, the Company has become the holding company of the 

Group since 2 February 2011.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND GROUP REORGANISATION CONTINUED

The Group resulting from the Group Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity. Accordingly, the consolidated 

statements of comprehensive income and cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011 include the 

results and cash flows of the companies now comprising the Group, as if the group structure upon the completion of 

the Group Reorganisation had been in existence throughout the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2011, or since their 

respective dates of incorporation where this is a shorter period. The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2010 has been prepared to present the assets and liabilities of the companies now comprising the Group as at 

31 December 2010.

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

“HKFRSs”

The Group has applied all the standards, amendments and interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants, which are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2011.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of financial assets1

 Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities2

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 Mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9 and transition disclosures3

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments3

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements2

HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements2

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities2

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income5

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying assets4

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee benefits2

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate financial statements2

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in associates and joint ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities6

HK(IFRIC) – INT 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The management anticipates that the application of these new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the 

Group’s financial performance and position.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for investment properties 

that are measured at fair values, and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. In addition, 

the consolidated financial statements includes applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the GEM and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 

by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and 

operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 

goods sold and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised using the percentage of completion method by reference to the value 

of work carried out during the year as determined by progress verification certificate.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from investment properties let under operating leases, is recognised 

on a straight line basis over the relevant lease terms.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in production or supply of goods or services, or 

for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives 

and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed as evidenced 

by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date 

of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the 

subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated 

profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as 

the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the 

period in which the item is derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from 

use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 

profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference 

to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, as measured by progress verification 

certificate. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be 

measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent 

of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period 

in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an 

expense immediately.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Construction contracts (continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus 

is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs 

incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for 

contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated statement of 

financial position, as a liability, as advances from customers. Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the 

customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and other receivables.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised a liability and as a 

reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the relevant lease term.

Land use rights

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance 

or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating 

leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments 

(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to 

the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of 

the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for 

as an operating lease is presented as “land use rights” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is released 

over the lease term on a straight line basis except for those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties 

under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building 

elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a group 

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 

measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and 

financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are mainly classified into loans and receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 

income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 

other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to 

the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, amounts 

due from related companies, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on 

financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are 

considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 

are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of 

receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 

payments in the portfolio past the credit period granted, observable changes in national or local economic conditions 

that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 

exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 

Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is considered 

uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 

event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 

instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a 

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 

payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 

other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to 

the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and amount due to a related company are subsequently measured 

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when 

it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 

the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 

transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises 

an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 

asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 

received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 

consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and 

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Impairment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any 

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 

asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is 

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 

its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised as income immediately.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for 

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 

tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised 

to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 

utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 

tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 

associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 

taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 

that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates 

to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 

currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated 

at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are 

translated from the functional currency of the respective companies into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. 

HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated 

at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, 

the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 

that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost of those 

assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on 

the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme, which are 

defined contribution schemes, are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered service entitling them to the 

contributions.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions 

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises 

as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable 

as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the 

Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 

ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, 

with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 

transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 

expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of an 

internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the intangible asset; and

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the 

date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible 

asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, are 

described below.

Allowance for doubtful debts

The Group makes allowance for doubtful debts based on an assessment of the recoverability of trade and other 

receivables. Allowances are made on trade and other receivables whenever there is any objective evidence that the 

balances may not be collectible. The Group makes judgement in assessing the collectability based on observable data 

including creditworthiness and payment history of the customers (for details please refer to note 19). When objective 

evidence for allowance exists, the amount of allowance is determined at the difference between the carrying amounts of 

the debts and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Where 

the expectation on the recoverability of the debts is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the 

carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the period in which such estimate has 

been changed.

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, net of allowance, is HK$72,028,000 (2010: 

HK$29,167,000).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances 

are applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than 

the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement and estimates on the 

conditions and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net realisable value of inventories assessed are less than 

expected, a material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which such recognition takes place.

At 31 December 2011, the carrying amounts of inventories is HK$18,238,000 (2010: HK$17,928,000).

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contract is recognised under the percentage of completion method which requires 

estimation made by the management. Anticipated losses are fully provided on contracts when identified. The 

management estimates the contract costs and foreseeable losses of construction based on the budgets prepared for the 

contracts. Because of the nature of the activities undertaken in construction businesses, the management reviews and 

revises the estimates of contract costs in the budget prepared for each contract as the contract progresses. Where the 

contract revenue is less than expected or actual contract costs are more than expected, additional losses may need to be 

recognised.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

RENHENG ENTERPRISE HOLDINGS LIMITED     ANNUAL REPORT 2011 44

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy 

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share 

capital and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the management considers the 

cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the 

Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and raising of new capital.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 176,083 84,204

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 43,773 25,665

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other receivables, amounts due from/to related companies, 

restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash and trade and other payables.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 

instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and 

monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. 

There has been no material change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and 

measures the risk from prior year.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Currency risk

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency (other than the functional currency) denominated monetary assets of 

the Group, representing bank balances and cash, at the end of reporting period are as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars 54,472 66

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign 

exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in its functional currency against 

the relevant foreign currency. 5% is the sensitivity rate represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 

possible change in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 

denominated monetary item and adjusts its translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

A negative number indicates a decrease in profit for the year when its functional currency strengthens 5% against 

the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of its functional currency against the relevant currency, there 

would be an equal but opposite impact on the profit for the year.

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars

 Profit for the year (2,724) (3)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing 

market interest rate on restricted bank deposits and bank balances (see note 22 for details of these deposits) at 

the end of the reporting period. The management considers the Group’s exposure of the short-term bank deposits 

and balances to interest rate risk is not significant as interest bearing bank deposits and balances are within short 

maturity period.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations 

at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of 

those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order to manage the credit risk, the 

management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals 

and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the 

Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that 

adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the management considers that 

the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 

international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 82% (2010: 60%) of the aggregated amount of trade receivables and 

retention money receivables was due from the Group’s five largest customers, operated in the tobacco industry in 

the PRC. In order to minimise the credit risk, management continuously monitors the level of exposure to ensure 

that follow-up actions and/or corrective actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover overdue 

balances.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in 

cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the 

agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table represented principal cash flows 

since the balances are non-interest bearing.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables

 Weighted

 average   Total Total

 effective Repayable Less than undiscounted carrying

 interest rate on demand 3 months cash flows amounts

  HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2011

Trade and other payables – 7,961 35,812 43,773 43,773

2010

Trade and other payables – 4,334 18,831 23,165 23,165

Amount due to a related company – 2,500 – 2,500 2,500

  6,834 18,831 25,665 25,665

(c) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 

models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 

amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.

8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Turnover represents revenue arising from sale of goods and construction contracts of casing and flavouring system. An 

analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods 44,884 30,525

Revenue from construction contracts of casing and flavouring system 111,160 61,188

 156,044 91,713
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8. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single operating segment focusing on manufacture and sale of 

tobacco machinery products. This operating segment has been identified on the basis of internal management reports 

prepared in accordance with accounting policies conform to HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive 

officer of the Group, the chief operating decision maker of the Group. The chief executive officer of the Group regularly 

reviews revenue analysis by products, including casing and flavouring system, pneumatic feeding system, pre-pressing 

packing machine and other products. However, other than revenue analysis, no operating results and other discrete 

financial information is available for the assessment of performance of the respective products. The chief executive officer 

of the Group reviews the revenue and the profit for the year of the Group as a whole to make decision about resources 

allocation. No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as they are not regularly provided to the chief 

executive officer of the Group. Accordingly, no analysis of this single operating segment is presented.

Entity-wide information

An analysis of the Group’s turnover by products is as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of

 – casing and flavouring system 111,160 61,188

 – pneumatic feeding system 18,469 17,805

 – pre-pressing packing machine 11,343 8,476

 – other products 15,072 4,244

 156,044 91,713

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A1 53,298 60,589

Customer B2 63,364 –

1 Revenue from sales of all products.

2 Revenue from sales of casing and flavouring system. The revenue contributed did not excess 10% of the total sales of the Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2010.

All of the Group’s turnover are arisen in the PRC, which are determined by the location where the systems or products 

being installed or delivered. The Group’s non-current assets of HK$37,802,000 (2010: HK$35,971,000) are arisen in and 

located in the PRC. The Group’s non-current assets of HK$40,000 (2010: nil) are arisen and located in Hong Kong.
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9. OTHER INCOME

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of materials, parts and components, net of costs 2,210 1,975

Subsidy income (Note) 2,020 1,138

Rental income 853 819

Interest income 338 210

Others 157 137

 5,578 4,279

Note: Based on a document issued by the People’s Government of Baoying, Baoying Renheng is entitled to a tax refund based on the PRC Enterprise 

Income Tax paid in prior year and approximately 12.5% of the excess value added tax paid in prior year as compared with the reference amount as 

stated in that document.

10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 181 786

Allowance for doubtful debts (171) –

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2) (73)

 8 713

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) 155 –

Other staff costs:

 Salaries, bonus and allowances 7,842 7,812

 Retirement benefits scheme contributions 738 214

 Share-based payment expense 105 –

Total staff costs 8,840 8,026

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,383 1,086

Allowance for inventories, included in costs of sales – 341

Auditor’s remuneration 650 285

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 21,220 12,318

Operating lease rentals in respect of

 Land use rights 72 69

 Rental premise 152 –
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

No emoluments was paid or payable to the directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2010. The 

emoluments paid or payable by the Group to the directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2011 are 

as follows:

  Salaries,  Retirement

  bonus benefits Share-based

  and scheme payment Total

 Fees allowances contributions expense emoluments

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors:

Mr. Wei Sheng Peng – 14 – – 14

Ms. Liu Li – 14 – – 14

Mr. Sun Zhaohui – 64 2 19 85

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Tam Yuk Sang, Sammy 14 – – – 14

Mr. Wong Yiu Kit 14 – – – 14

Mr. Kong Hing Ki 14 – – – 14

 42 92 2 19 155

The emoluments of five highest paid individuals (none of them is director of the Company) during both years are as 

follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Employees

 – salaries, bonus and allowances 1,353 801

 – retirement benefits scheme contributions 39 22

 1,392 823

The emoluments of each of the five highest paid individuals during both years are below HK$1,000,000.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an 

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any emoluments 

during both years.
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13. TAXATION

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

The charge comprises:

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

 – current year 6,284 7,557

 – overprovision in prior year (3,295) –

 2,989 7,557

Withholding tax on distributed profits 673 –

Deferred taxation (Note 25)

 – attributable to change in tax rate (177) –

 – current year (586) 248

 (763) 248

 2,899 7,805

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the Group has no 

assessable profit arisen in, or was derived from, Hong Kong.

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is based on the estimated taxable income for PRC taxation purposes at 15% 

(2010: 25%) pursuant to the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax and Implementation Legislation (the “EIT Law”).

Under the EIT Law, a qualified High and New-Tech Enterprise (“HNTE”) can enjoy a reduced tax rate at 15%. Baoying 

Renheng has been recognised as HNTE and is therefore entitled to a reduced tax rate at 15%, which is applied 

retrospectively to prior year. An overprovision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax amounted to approximately HK$3,295,000 

has been adjusted in the current year. In addition, the deferred tax balance has been adjusted to reflect the tax rate that 

is expected to apply to the respective periods when the assets are realised or the liabilities are settled.
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13. TAXATION CONTINUED

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 28,578 27,738

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 15% (2010: 25%) 4,287 6,935

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,228 716

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (10) (4)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries in other jurisdictions (134) 158

Effect of change in tax rate (177) –

Overprovision in prior year (3,295) –

Tax charge for the year 2,899 7,805

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for both years is based on the following data and on the 

assumption that the Group Reorganisation and the capitalisation issue of 149,999,900 shares as disclosed in note 26 had 

been effective on 1 January 2010:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings

 Profit for the year attributable to owners of the

  Company for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings

  per share (2010: for basic earnings per share only) 25,679 19,933

Number of shares

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

  the purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings

  per share (2010: for basic earnings per share only) 156,164,384 150,000,000

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 has not assumed the exercise of the 

Company’s share options because the adjusted exercise price of the share options (after the adjustment of the fair value 

of the unvested share options) were higher than the average market prices of those shares for the outstanding period 

during the year ended 31 December 2011.

No diluted earnings per share was presented as there was no potential ordinary share during the year ended 31 

December 2010.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

  Furniture,

  fixtures

  and office Computer Motor Plant and

 Buildings equipment equipment vehicles machinery Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST

At 1 January 2010 15,307 399 770 1,443 4,776 22,695

Currency realignment 525 13 16 56 162 772

Additions 336 – 58 368 341 1,103

Disposals – – (635) – (300) (935)

At 31 December 2010 16,168 412 209 1,867 4,979 23,635

Currency realignment 774 20 11 106 252 1,163

Additions – 19 84 704 616 1,423

Disposals – – – – (19) (19)

At 31 December 2011 16,942 451 304 2,677 5,828 26,202

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2010 3,124 295 622 908 3,485 8,434

Currency realignment 119 10 11 33 117 290

Provided for the year 708 22 29 145 182 1,086

Eliminated on disposals – – (569) – (270) (839)

At 31 December 2010 3,951 327 93 1,086 3,514 8,971

Currency realignment 208 16 5 59 173 461

Provided for the year 783 47 52 271 230 1,383

Eliminated on disposals – – – – (17) (17)

At 31 December 2011 4,942 390 150 1,416 3,900 10,798

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2011 12,000 61 154 1,261 1,928 15,404

At 31 December 2010 12,217 85 116 781 1,465 14,664

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated at the following rates, after taking into account of their 

estimated residual values, on a straight line basis:

Buildings 5%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% – 33%

Computer equipment 33%

Motor vehicles 10% – 20%

Plant and machinery 20%

The Group’s buildings are held under medium-term leases and are situated in the PRC.
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16. LAND USE RIGHTS

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

CARRYING AMOUNT

At beginning of the year 3,073 3,040

Currency realignment 145 102

Charge to profit or loss during the year (72) (69)

At end of the year 3,146 3,073

Non-current asset 3,072 3,002

Current asset 74 71

 3,146 3,073

The Group’s leasehold interest in land is held under medium-term leases and is situated in the PRC.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 HK$’000

FAIR VALUE

At 1 January 2010 16,930

Currency realignment 589

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 786

At 31 December 2010 18,305

Currency realignment 880

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss 181

At 31 December 2011 19,366

The investment properties are measured using the fair value model at the end of the reporting period based on the 

valuation carried out by Greater China Appraisal Limited (“Greater China Appraisal”) by adopting the direct comparison 

approach making reference to comparable sales evidence. Greater China Appraisal is an independent qualified 

professional property valuer not connected with the Group, who has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in 

the valuations of similar properties in the relevant location.

The Group’s investment properties are held under medium-term leases to earn rentals and are situated in the PRC.
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18. INVENTORIES

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 13,884 7,379

Work in progress 4,354 10,549

 18,238 17,928

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 50,852 16,071

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (2,365) (2,090)

 48,487 13,981

Retention money receivables 19,088 11,272

Prepayments and deposits 8,202 10,192

Valued added tax recoverable – 3,144

Sundry receivables 4,945 4,384

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (492) (470)

 31,743 28,522

 80,230 42,503

The Group normally allows a credit period of three months to its trade customers. Before accepting any new customer, 

the Group will internally assess the credit quality of the potential customer and define appropriate credit limits.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the 

invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 14,484 9,265

91 – 365 days 32,291 4,149

1 – 2 years 1,687 279

Over 2 years 25 288

 48,487 13,981
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the 

invoice date at the end of the reporting period which are past due but not impaired as the management of the Group 

considers that there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are considered recoverable. The 

Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

91 – 365 days 32,291 4,149

1 – 2 years 1,687 279

Over 2 years 25 288

 34,003 4,716

The Group’s management closely monitors the credit quality of receivables and considers those receivables that are 

neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit quality.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the year 2,560 2,476

Currency realignment 126 84

Provided for the year 171 –

At end of the year 2,857 2,560

The allowance for doubtful debts represented individually impaired trade and other receivables which have been placed 

under liquidation or in severe financial difficulties or assessed by the management that the relevant receivables are not 

expected to be recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM TO CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period:

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 8,670 24,191

Less: Progress billings (13,742) (30,638)

 (5,072) (6,447)

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Amounts due from customers for contract work 2,334 1,614

Amounts due to customers for contract work (7,406) (8,061)

 (5,072) (6,447)

Retentions by the customers for contract works, included in note 19, were amounted to HK$13,859,000 (2010: 

HK$8,588,000), and advances received from customers for contract work, included in note 23, were amounted to 

HK$2,285,000 (2010: HK$10,020,000).

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Details of the amounts due from related companies are as follows:

 Maximum

 amount

 outstanding

 during the year

Name of related company 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Yangzhou Jinchuang Curtain Wall

 Engineering Company Limited

 （揚州金窗幕牆工程有限公司） 224 214 207 224 1,038

Yangzhou Longtai Electric

 Company Limited

 （揚州龍泰電器有限公司） 213 203 6,849 376 7,285

 437 417 7,056

Note: The Controlling Shareholders, who are also the directors of the Company, are also the controlling shareholders of these companies. The amounts 

are allowed for a credit period of three months, unsecured and interest-free.
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21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES CONTINUED

The following is an aged analysis of trade balances with related companies for rental services based on the invoice date 

at the end of the reporting period.

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 437 417

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits carried at prevailing market deposit rate. The effective interest rate of 

these deposits ranged from 0.50% to 1.50% (2010: 0.36% to 1.50%) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits represent deposits of HK$265,000 (2010: HK$237,000) with effective interest rate of 0.5% (2010: 

0.5%) per annum pledged to a bank to secure certain construction contracts, which will be released upon the completion 

of construction.

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 40,472 21,999

Advances from customers 4,020 16,595

Accrued welfare expense 1,770 1,690

Valued added tax payable 1,205 –

Other payables 3,301 1,166

 50,768 41,450

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting 

period.

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 35,812 18,831

91 – 365 days 3,685 1,833

1 – 2 years 660 1,064

2 – 3 years 315 271

 40,472 21,999

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days.
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24. AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

Name of related company 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Grand Bright International Enterprise Limited – 2,500

Note: The Controlling Shareholders, who are the directors of the Company, are also the controlling shareholders of the Company. The amount was of 

non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

25. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and movements thereon during the current or 

prior year:

 Provision  Withholding Revaluation

 for trade Provision tax on of

 and other for undistributed investment

 receivables inventories profits properties Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2010 619 662 (621) (1,454) (794)

Currency realignment 21 24 (21) (55) (31)

Credit (charge) to profit

 or loss for the year – 85 – (333) (248)

At 31 December 2010 640 771 (642) (1,842) (1,073)

Currency realignment 25 29 (31) (73) (50)

Effect of change in tax rate (261) (316) – 754 177

Credit (charge) to profit

 or loss for the year 26 – 673 (113) 586

At 31 December 2011 430 484 – (1,274) (360)

The withholding tax on undistributed profits of a PRC subsidiary has been fully recognised as deferred tax liability as 

at 31 December 2010. During the year ended 31 December 2011, the withholding tax on such distributed profits was 

settled and the balance of deferred tax liability has been released. As at 31 December 2011, the Group does not recognise 

deferred tax liability in relation to withholding tax on undistributed profits of that PRC subsidiary of HK$62,902,000 (2010: 

HK$29,460,000), because of the retention of undistributed profits by the subsidiary in the PRC was determined by the 

management.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

The movement in share capital of the Company are as follows:

 Number

 of shares Amount

  HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:

 On 2 February 2011 (date of incorporation) 38,750,000 388

 Increase in authorised share capital 961,250,000 9,612

 At 31 December 2011 1,000,000,000 10,000

Issued and fully paid:

 Issue of shares upon the Group Reorganisation

  on 2 February 2011 (date of incorporation) 100 –

 Capitalisation issue 149,999,900 1,500

 Placing of shares 50,000,000 500

 At 31 December 2011 200,000,000 2,000

The Company was incorporated on 2 February 2011 with an authorised share capital of HK$387,500 dividend into 

38,750,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each. Pursuant to a share swap agreement dated 2 February 2011, the Company 

acquired the entire issued share capital of RENHENG Global, and in consideration thereof, a total of 100 shares of the 

Company were issued and allotted to LinkBest and Open Venture, which are wholly owned by Mr. Wei Sheng Peng and 

Ms. Liu Li, respectively.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolutions which were passed to approve the matters set out in the paragraph headed 

“Written resolutions of all shareholders” in Appendix V to the Company’s prospectus dated 28 October 2011:

(i) The authorised share capital of the Company was increased from HK$387,500 to HK$10,000,000 by the creation of 

an additional 961,250,000 ordinary shares each ranking pari passu in all respects; and

(ii) The directors of the Company were hereby authorised to capitalise HK$1,499,999 standing to credit of the share 

premium account of the Company, as a result of the placing of shares, and to apply such sum in paying up in full 

at par 149,999,900 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each for allotment and issue to holders of shares whose names 

appeared on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on 20 October 2011 in proportion.

On 17 November 2011, 50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued at HK$1.20 per share by 

way of placing. On 18 November 2011, the Company’s shares were listed on the GEM.

The share capital of the Group as at 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 presented represents the share capital of 

RENHENG Global.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme

Pursuant to a share option scheme approved by a written resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company 

on 20 October 2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant options to eligible directors of 

the Company, eligible employees of the Group and other selected participants, for the recognition of their 

contributions, to subscribe for shares in the Company with a payment of HK$10 upon each grant of options offered.

The exercise price of the share option will be determined at the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the GEM on the date of grant;

(ii) the average of closing prices of the Company’s shares on the GEM on the five trading days immediately 

preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The share options are exercisable at any time during a period of not more than 10 years from the date of grant, 

subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, or any conditions stipulated by the board of 

directors.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted shall not exceed 10% of the number 

of shares of Company in issue from time to time. Unless further shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant 

to the conditions set out in the Share Option Scheme, no person shall be granted an option which, if all the options 

granted to the person (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 month period up to the date 

of grant are exercised in full, would result in such person’s maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the number of 

issued shares of Company.

Up to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial statements, no options have been granted or agreed to be 

granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

(b) Pre-IPO share option scheme

The principal terms of the Pre-IPO share option scheme, approved by a written resolution of the shareholders of the 

Company dated 20 October 2011, are substantially the same as the terms of the Share Option Scheme except that:

(i) the exercise price of the share option is 80% of HK$1.20; and

(ii) the option shall only be exercisable on or after 1 January 2013 and expire not later than 10 years from the date 

of grant.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES CONTINUED

(b) Pre-IPO share option scheme (continued)

The following table sets out the movements in the share options of the Company during the period:

    Outstanding

  Exercise Granted on as at

Date of grant Exercisable period price 20.10.2011 31.12.2011

  HK$

Director of the

 Company:

20.10.2011 1.1.2013 to 19.10.2021 0.96 200,000 200,000

Employees:

20.10.2011 1.1.2013 to 19.10.2021 0.96 1,100,000 1,100,000

Exercisable at the

 end of the year    –

The fair value of those granted share options at the date of grant determined using the Binomial option pricing 

model (“Binomial model”) was HK$742,000.

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of share options:

Share price on date of grant HK$1.154

Exercise price HK$0.96

Expected volatility 43.1%

Expected life of options 10 years

Risk-free interest rate 1.378%

Sub-optional exercise factor 2.2

Expected dividend yield –

Expected volatility was estimated by the average annualised standard derivations of the continuously compounded 

rates of return on the share prices of comparable companies with similar business operation because of insufficient 

price history of the Company’s shares.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in 

computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. Changes in variables and 

assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the options.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group recognised total expenses of HK$124,000 in relation to share 

options granted by the Company.
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28. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group was committed to make the following future minimum lease payments 

under an non-cancellable operating lease for its office property which fall due as follows:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 165 –

In the second to fifth years inclusive 7 –

 172 –

Lease is negotiated and rental is fixed originally for a lease term of two years.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with related companies, companies controlled by Mr. Wei 

Sheng Peng and Ms. Liu Li, for the following future minimum lease payments:

 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 874 834

In the second to fifth years inclusive – 2,116

Over five years – 854

 874 3,804

The investment properties have committed tenants for lease terms of 1 year (2010: 7 years). In January 2011, the Group 

and the related companies agreed to early terminate the tenancy agreements and entered into new tenancy agreements 

with shorter lease period.

29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the 

Mandatory Provident Scheme Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are held 

separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll 

costs with a cap of monthly contributions of HK$1,000 to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employee.
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29. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME CONTINUED

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiary are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated 

by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of its payroll cost to the 

retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits 

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The amounts incurred for retirement benefit scheme contributions are disclosed in note 11. According to the respective 

schemes, those contributions are not refundable nor forfeitable.

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from details of the balances with related companies disclosed in the respective notes, the Group entered into the 

following transactions with related companies, which are also controlled by the Controlling Shareholders, during the 

year:

Nature of transactions 2011 2010

 HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 853 819

Purchase of goods 64 434

Subcontracting work 146 113

Purchase of property, plant and equipment – 33

Compensation of key management personnel

Details of the remuneration of key management personnel, which are the directors and five highest paid employees, 

during the year, were set out in note 12.

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

 Place of Issued and fully

Name of incorporation/ paid share capital/ Attributable equity

subsidiary establishment registered capital interest of the Group Principal activities

   2011 2010

RENHENG Global British Virgin US$50,000 100% 100% Investment holding

  Islands

RENHENG Tech Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

 Limited

Baoying Renheng PRC RMB42,857,143 100% 100% Manufacture and sale

 (Wholly foreign-       of tobacco machinery 

 owned enterprises)      products

Note: RENHENG Global is directly held by the Company. Other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
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31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES CONTINUED

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year and at the end of the year.

32. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Financial information of the Company as at 31 December 2011 is set out below:

 HK$’000

Non-current asset

 Investment in a subsidiary 378

Current assets

 Other receivables 29

 Bank balances and cash 54,206

 54,235

Current liabilities

 Other payables 2,295

 Amount due to a subsidiary (Note 1) 5,935

 8,230

Net current assets 46,005

Net assets 46,383

Capital and reserves

 Share capital 2,000

 Share premium 52,940

 Other reserve (Note 2) 378

 Accumulated losses (8,935)

Total equity 46,383

Notes:

(1) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(2) Other reserve represented the net asset value of RENHENG Global which was acquired by the Company at nil consideration pursuant to the Group 

Reorganisation.

(3) Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying dividends to 

shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum or articles of association and provided that immediately following the distribution 

of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. At the end of the reporting period, the 

Company’s reserve available for distribution amounted to HK$44,005,000.
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 Year ended 31 December

 2009 2010 2011

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Turnover 72,616 91,713 156,044

Profit before taxation 16,733 27,738 28,578

Taxation (5,748) (7,805) (2,899)

Profit for the year 10,985 19,933 25,679

 As at 31 December

 2009 2010 2011

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 94,503 153,124 242,773

Total liabilities (23,130) (59,043) (62,877)

Net assets 71,373 94,081 179,896

The results and summary of assets and liabilities for year ended 31 December 2009 and 2010 are extracted from the Company’s 

prospectus dated 28 October 2011.
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